




Dear fellow owners:

2022 was a year of substantial progress for JetBlue as we continued to build on our solid foundation to deliver 
value for all our stakeholders – our customers, crewmembers, owners, and communities. As we emerged from 

I am also extremely proud of the groundwork we laid to continue our legacy of disrupting the industry with more 
competition and more choice for customers. We made tremendous progress accelerating our efforts to bring 
our unique value proposition of low fares and great service to more customers. In addition to the continued 
growth of our Northeast Alliance (NEA) with American Airlines, we announced our plans to acquire Spirit Airlines 
to create a truly national low-fare challenger to the ‘Big Four’ airlines. 

Some of the key highlights of 2022 include:

 ■ We delivered record annual revenue, with strong demand for our offering as our unique value proposition 
across our products resonated well with customers. 

 ■ We launched a new structural cost program targeting $150 million to $200 million in cost reduction, which 
is already delivering savings. We’re laser focused on optimizing our cost structure to provide a platform for 
long-term margin expansion. 

 ■

the NEA. 
 ■

Northeast and London. 
 ■ We launched service to Canada with our inaugural Canadian BlueCity of Vancouver. 
 ■ We took delivery of 6 Airbus A220 and 2 A321neo Long Range aircraft to support our network expansion efforts. 
We also announced an agreement to exercise our option for 30 A220 aircraft, as well as the accelerated 

margins. 
 ■

As we look ahead this year, we are focused on building on the momentum from the second half of 2022. We 

and operating initiatives. With the strong revenue environment, solid execution on these initiatives, and a tight 
grip on our cost structure, we are on a path to generating strong run-rate earnings of the standalone business 

 

Leveraging our Network Strengths to Drive Success

in New York and Boston enabled by the NEA. Looking ahead, further strengthening our relevance in our focus 

to deliver more value to our customers. 



travelers across the Northeast by introducing greater competition and a full-scale alternative to the two dominant 
legacy carriers in the Northeast. Through this unique growth opportunity, we are able to bring more of our low 
fares and great product to more customers. 

seamlessness are delivering more options for consumers. We expect a strong earnings tailwind from the NEA 
as this new service matures over the coming years. 

Internationally, we’re excited to further build on our success with the launch of our second transatlantic destination, 
Paris – continental Europe’s most visited city. Domestically, we are focused on adding service across our other 
Focus Cities where we see meaningful margin opportunities. Most of our growth in 2023 will come from restoring 
utilization towards pre-pandemic levels. 

Creating a Truly Unique Travel Experience for Customers with Low Fares and Great Service

IWith our network and commercial initiatives, we are well-positioned to capitalize on the ongoing robust demand 

customers, and I’m particularly pleased with the strength of our Mint service. All of our A321neo deliveries this 
year will include a Mint cabin. 

the strong customer engagement with our TrueBlue® program. We also unveiled the next iteration of TrueBlue® as 

customers traveling just once a year – to earn rewards faster and seek more options and choice. We are launching 

this revenue stream and close the gap to best in class loyalty performance.

insurance, and our new Paisly platform, driving 59% revenue growth versus 2021 and 136% growth versus 2019. 
JTP is generating $20 million to $25 million in quarterly EBIT, compared to $15 million in EBIT for the full-year 
2019. I’m excited about the trajectory of this business as we aim to double our current EBIT generation over the 
next 3 years. 

Keeping a Firm Grip on Costs to Provide More Low Fares 

A low cost structure is embedded in our roots, and allows us to offer low fares while maintaining a high standard 
of service and product. We are successfully tackling structural increases in our cost base tied to labor and fuel, 

high-value geography. 

Last year, we undertook a methodical review of our costs, and rolled out our new structural cost program 

and maximized asset productivity. 

value. 



Maintaining a Healthy Liquidity Balance and Continuing to Invest in the Business 

We ended 2022 with $1.6 billion in cash excluding our undrawn $600 million revolving credit facility, or 17% of 
2022 revenue. During 2022, we funded close to $1 billion in capital expenditures, approximately $300 million in 
payments related to our acquisition of Spirit, and $369 million in debt payments. 

Looking ahead, we remain focused on maintaining a healthy liquidity balance, and given economic uncertainty 

Industry Leading ESG Efforts

We continue to solidify our industry-leading ESG strategy. We remain as committed as ever to investing in 
our crewmembers and making JetBlue a place where our crewmembers are proud to work. Based on external 
customer research, JetBlue ranks number one in diversity and inclusion in accommodating travelers in our focus 
cities. In addition, people of color represent 82% of our Gateway Direct program classes, which are open to our 
crewmembers aspiring to become pilots. 

Last year, we committed to our boldest emissions reductions target to-date. We outlined a solid plan to reduce 
our per-seat emissions in half by 2035 compared with 2019 levels as part of our recent science-based target, 
which is aligned with the goals of the Paris Agreement. We also shared our own goal to reach net zero carbon 
emissions by 2040 (which is 10 years ahead of the broader industry’s targets). We believe Sustainable Aviation Fuel 
(SAF) is the most effective lever to reduce emissions, and we’re proud to be supporting a portfolio of emerging 

Paving a Path to Long-Term Value Creation 

We made great progress in the past year positioning JetBlue for sustainable long-term value creation. We have 
strengthened our high-value network footprint, continued to innovate across our compelling products, and set 
a disciplined plan to successfully manage our controllable costs. We plan to leverage our trusted travel brand 

as we move through the year. 

Looking beyond 2023, we are excited to create a truly national low-fare challenger to the ‘Big Four’ airlines through 

A huge thanks to our crewmembers for their dedication and diligent work in positioning JetBlue to create value 
for all of our stakeholders. Thanks also to you, our owners, for your continued support.

Most sincerely,

Robin Hayes
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Forward-Looking Information
This Report (or otherwise made by JetBlue or on JetBlue’s behalf) 
contain various forward-looking statements within the meaning 
of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the 
“Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”), which represent 
our management’s beliefs and assumptions concerning future 
events. These statements are intended to qualify for the “safe 
harbor” from liability established by the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. When used in this document and in 
documents incorporated herein by reference, the words “expects,” 
“plans,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “indicates,” “remains,” “believes,” 
“estimates,” “forecast,” “guidance,” “outlook,” “may,” “will,” “should,” 
“seeks,” “goals,” “targets” and similar expressions are intended 
to identify forward-looking statements. Additionally, forward-
looking statements include statements that do not relate solely 
to historical facts, such as statements which identify uncertainties 
or trends, discuss the possible future effects of current known 
trends or uncertainties, or which indicate that the future 
effects of known trends or uncertainties cannot be predicted, 
guaranteed, or assured. Forward-looking statements involve risks, 
uncertainties and assumptions, and are based on information 
currently available to us. Actual results may differ materially from 
those expressed in the forward-looking statements due to many 
factors, including, without limitation, the COVID-19 pandemic 
and government-imposed measures to control its spread; risk 
associated with execution of our strategic operating plans in the 
near-term and long-term; our extremely competitive industry; risks 

fuel prices and availability of fuel; increased maintenance costs 

our reliance on high daily aircraft utilization; our dependence on 
the New York metropolitan market; risks associated with extended 
interruptions or disruptions in service at our focus cities; risks 
associated with airport expenses; risks associated with seasonality 
and weather; our reliance on a limited number of suppliers; risks 
related to new or increased tariffs imposed on commercial aircraft 
and related parts imported from outside the United States; the 
outcome of lawsuits filed against us related to our Northeast 
Alliance with American Airlines Group Inc.; failure to obtain certain 
governmental approvals necessary to consummate the merger 
(the “Merger”) with Spirit Airlines Inc. (“Spirit”); risks associated with 
failure to consummate the Merger in a timely manner or at all; risks 
associated with the pendency of the Merger and related business 
disruptions; indebtedness following consummation of the Merger 

and credit ratings; the possibility that JetBlue may be unable to 
achieve expected synergies and operating efficiencies within 
the expected timeframes or at all; challenges associated with 
successful integration of Spirit's operations; expenses related 
to the Merger and integration of Spirit; the potential for loss of 
management personal and other key crewmembers as a result of 

the Merger; risks associated with effective management of the 
combined company following the Merger; risks associated with 
JetBlue being bound by all obligations and liabilities of Spirit 
following consummation of the Merger; risks associated with the 
integration of JetBlue and Spirit workforce, including with respect 
to negotiation of labor agreements and labor costs; the impact 
of the Merger on JetBlue’s earnings per share; risks associated 
with cybersecurity incidents; heightened regulatory requirements 
concerning data security compliance; risks associated with 
reliance on, and potential failure of, automated systems; our 

subject to potential unionization, work stoppages, slowdowns 
or increased labor costs; reputational and business risk from an 
accident or incident involving our aircraft; risks associated with 

card processors; restrictions as a result of our participation in 
governmental support programs; risks associated with seeking 

of intangible or long-lived assets; risks associated with disease 
outbreaks or environmental disasters affecting travel behavior; 
compliance with future environmental regulations; the impacts of 
federal budget constraints or federally imposed furloughs; climate 
change; changes in government regulations in our industry; acts 
of war or terrorism; global economic conditions or an economic 
downturn leading to a continuing or accelerated decrease in 
demand for air travel; and risks associated with the implementation 
of 5G wireless technology near airports that we operate in. It is 
routine for our internal projections and expectations to change 
as the year or each quarter in the year progresses, and therefore 
it should be clearly understood that the internal projections, 
beliefs, and assumptions upon which we base our expectations 
may change prior to the end of each quarter or year. Any outlook 
or forecasts in this document have been prepared without taking 
into account or consideration the Merger with Spirit.

Given the risks and uncertainties surrounding forward-looking 
statements, you should not place undue reliance on these 
statements. You should understand that many important factors, 
in addition to those discussed or incorporated by reference in this 
Report, could cause our results to differ materially from those 
expressed in the forward-looking statements. Potential factors 
that could affect our results include, in addition to others not 
described in this Report, those described in Item 1A of this Report 
under “Risks Related to the COVID-19 Pandemic,” “Risks Related 
to JetBlue,” and “Risks Associated with the Airline Industry.” In 
light of these risks and uncertainties, the forward-looking events 
discussed in this Report might not occur. Our forward-looking 
statements speak only as of the date of this Report. Other than 
as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update or 
revise forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events, or otherwise.
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PART I

ITEM 1 BUSINESS

Overview

General
JetBlue Airways Corporation, or JetBlue, is New York’s Hometown 

Merger

Our Industry and Competition

The COVID-19 Pandemic

JetBlue Experience
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Differentiated Product and Culture

as www.jetblue.com

Basic, Blue, Mint
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Network

Capacity Distribution 2022 2021 2020

Transcontinental

Central

Transatlantic —

TOTAL 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
(1) Domestic operations as defined by the U.S. Department of Transportation (“DOT”), include Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands, but for the purposes of the capacity 

distribution table above, we have included these locations in the Caribbean and Latin America region.
(2) We further expanded our presence in the transatlantic market with service from Boston Logan International Airport, or Boston to London Gatwick and London Heathrow 

airports in August 2022. 

NORTHEAST ALLIANCE
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Marketing 

reputation. 

Distribution

www.jetblue.com

Customer Loyalty Program 
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Operations and Cost Structure 

Route Structure 

constraints.

 ■ New York metropolitan area -

 ■ Boston -

 ■ Caribbean and Latin America - 

 ■ Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood -

 ■ Orlando -

 ■ Los Angeles area - 
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Fleet Structure

Aircraft Type
Number of seats on 

aircraft at December 31, 2022

TOTAL 290
(1) Our restyle program, which was completed in the first quarter of 2022, allowed us to increase capacity in a capital-efficient and customer-focused way.
(2) As of December 31, 2022 we parked 9 of these aircraft.

Fleet Maintenance

component replacements. 

Aircraft Fuel

2022 2021 2020

(1) Total cost and average price per gallon each include related fuel taxes as well as effective fuel hedging gains and losses.
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Financial Health

JetBlue Ventures

 ■ Seamless Customer Journey:

 ■ Reimagining the Accommodation Experience:

 ■ Next-Generation Aviation Operations and Enterprise Tech: 

 ■ Innovation in Loyalty, Distribution, and Revenue:

 ■ Sustainable Travel:

propulsion systems.

JetBlue Travel Products

 

JFK Terminal 6
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TWA Flight Center Hotel 

Human Capital Management

Our People and Culture

 ■ Gateway University:

 ■ Gateway Select :

 ■ Gateway Direct - Flight Operations:

 ■ Gateway Flex - Flight Operations:

 ■ Gateway Direct - Technical Operations:

 ■ Gateway Flex- Technical Operations:

 ■ Gateway Family:
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Crewmember Group Representative Crewmembers(1) Amendable Date(2)

(1) Approximate number of active full-time equivalent crewmembers as of December 31, 2022.
(2) Our relations with our labor organizations are governed by Title II of the Railway Labor Act of 1926, pursuant to which the collective bargaining agreements between us and 

these organizations do not expire but instead become amendable as of a certain date if either party wishes to modify the terms of the agreement.

transparent. 
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Crewmember Group Number of full time crewmembers

Airport operations

(1) other airlines may refer to as flight attendants
(2) other airlines may refer to as mechanics

Crewmember Programs

 ■ Crewmember Resource Groups (CRGs) -

 — BlueAbilities:

 — Blue Aviasian:

 — Blue Conexión:

 — JADE (JetBlue African Diaspora Experience):

 — JetPride:

 — SAJE (South Asian JetBlue Experience):

 — Vets in Blue:

 — Women in Flight:

 ■ JetBlue Crewmember Crisis Fund (JCCF) -

 ■ JetBlue Scholars -
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 ■ Lift Recognition Program -

Community Programs

 ■ Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) -

 — Youth and Education:

 — Community:

 — Environment:

carbon footprint.

 ■ JetBlue Foundation -

 —

 —

 —

 —

Environmental, Social, and Governance 
Management

ENVIRONMENTAL 

(1) 

(2) Fuel Optimization:

(3) Sustainable Aviation Fuel (“SAF”):
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(4) Electric Ground Operations:

(5) Technology Partnerships:

(6) Carbon Offsetting:

SOCIAL

 ■ People
 —

Company. 
 —

 —

 —

 ■ Sourcing
 —

 ■ Brand
 —

 —

 —
customers’ experience.

GOVERNANCE
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website.

Emergence from the COVID-19 Pandemic

Regulation

DOT 

compliance.

FAA 
Transportation Security Administration and 
U.S. Customs and Border Protection 
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Taxes & Fees 

State and Local 

Airport Access 

Foreign Operations 

Other

ENVIRONMENTAL 

curfews. 

FOREIGN OWNERSHIP 
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OTHER REGULATIONS CIVIL RESERVE AIR FLEET 

Insurance

Where You Can Find Other Information
www.jetblue.com

www.sec.gov.
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 RISK FACTORS

Summary

Risks Related to the COVID-19 Pandemic
 ■

Risks Related to JetBlue
 ■

Operational Risks
 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

our reputation.
 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

Risks Related to Our Merger with Spirit
 ■

 ■

 ■

price of our common stock.
 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■
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Data and Information Security Related Risks
 ■

crewmembers’, business partners’ or our own information or 

 ■

 ■

Human Capital Related Risks
 ■

 ■

Reputational Risks
 ■

 ■

Financing and Financial Risks
 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

Risks Associated with the Airline Industry
 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

operations.

Risks Related to the COVID-19 Pandemic 
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preferences.

DEMAND, CAPACITY, REVENUES AND EXPENSES 

OPERATIONS 

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND INDEBTEDNESS
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SECURITIES MARKETS VOLATILITY 

securities.

Risks Related to JetBlue

22 JETBLUE AIRWAYS CORPORATION    |   2022

   |   



Operational Risks

of certainty.
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 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

affect our business.
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Risks Related to Our Merger with Spirit

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■
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terms acceptable to us or at all.
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 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■
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Data and Information Security Related Risks

as appropriate.
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or access to, customers’, crewmembers’ or business partners’ 

or misappropriation of our business information may materially 

increase our costs.
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Human Capital Related Risks

Reputational Risks
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Financing and Financial Risks

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■
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our operations.

CARES ACT – PAYROLL SUPPORT PROGRAM

CARES ACT – SECURED LOAN PROGRAM

CONSOLIDATED APPROPRIATIONS ACT – PAYROLL SUPPORT 
PROGRAM 2

AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT – PAYROLL SUPPORT 
PROGRAM 3
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terms.
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Risks Associated with the Airline Industry
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facilities. 
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 UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
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 PROPERTIES

Aircraft

Aircraft Seating Capacity Owned(4) Operating Leased Total
Average Age in 

Years

— 

— 

— 

228 62 290 12.4
(1) Our Airbus A320 with a restyled cabin configuration has a seating capacity of 162 seats. Our Airbus A320 with a classic cabin configuration has a seating capacity of 

(2) Our Airbus A321 with a single cabin layout has a seating capacity of 200 seats. Our Airbus A321 with Mint® premium service has a seating capacity of 159 seats.
(3) Our Airbus A321neo with a single cabin layout has a seating capacity of 200 seats. Our Airbus A321neo with Mint® premium service has a seating capacity of 160 seats. The 

long range version of our A321neo with Mint® premium service has a seating capacity of 138 seats.
(4) Total owned aircraft include aircraft associated with sale-leaseback transactions that did not qualify as sales for accounting purposes. 

is as follows

Contractual Order Book

Year Airbus A321neo Airbus A220 Total

—

TOTAL 62 86 148
(1) Our aircraft order book is subject to change based on modifications to the contractual agreements or changes in the delivery schedules.
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Ground Facilities 

Airports 

 ■ JFK -

 ■ BOS -

Other

 ■ New York -

maintenance work. 
 ■ Boston -

 ■ Orlando -

 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

 MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II

  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY; RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF 
EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information and Stockholder Matters
Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market 
under the symbol JBLU. As of January 31, 2023, there were 
approximately 390 holders of record of our common stock.

We have not paid cash dividends on our common stock and 
have no current intention to do so. Any future determination to 

pay cash dividends would be at the discretion of our Board of 
Directors, subject to applicable limitations under Delaware law 
or legislation. This decision would be dependent upon our results 
of operations, financial condition, and other factors deemed 
relevant by our Board of Directors.

Our share repurchase programs include authorization for 
repurchases in open market transactions pursuant to Rules 
10b-18 and/or 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act, and/or one or more 
privately-negotiated accelerated stock repurchase transactions. 
The timing, price, and volume of any repurchases will be based on 
market conditions and other relevant factors.

On December 8, 2017, the Board of Directors approved a two year 
share repurchase program, or the 2017 Authorization, of up to 
$750 million worth of common stock beginning on January 1, 2018. 
The 2017 Authorization was completed in 2019.

On September 19, 2019, the Board of Directors approved a 
share repurchase program, or the 2019 Authorization, of up to 

and ending no later than December 31, 2021. 

2020. In accordance with restrictions under the Acts, we 
were prohibited from making any share repurchases through 
September 30, 2022. We have not restarted our share repurchase 
program since that date. The acquisition of treasury stock 

year ended December 31, 2022 represents the return of shares 
to satisfy tax payments associated with crewmember stock 
compensation that vested during the period.

In consideration for the Payroll Support Payments and payments 
received under the CARES Act Loan Program, during the year 
ended December 31, 2020, we issued warrants to purchase 
approximately 3.9 million shares of our common stock to the 
Treasury at an exercise price of $9.50 per share.

In consideration for the Payroll Support 2 Payments, during the 
year ended December 31, 2021, we issued warrants to purchase 
approximately 1.0 million shares of our common stock to the 
Treasury at an exercise price of $14.43 per share.

In consideration for the Payroll Support 3 Payments, during the 
year ended December 31, 2021, we issued warrants to purchase 
approximately 0.7 million shares of our common stock to the 
Treasury at an exercise price of $19.90 per share. 

details.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following line graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the cumulative total return of 
the S&P 500 Stock Index and the NYSE Arca Airline Index from December 31, 2018 to December 31, 2022. The comparison assumes the 
investment of $100 in our common stock and in each of the foregoing indices and reinvestment of all dividends. The stock performance 
shown represents historical performance and is not representative of future stock performance.

$

2018 2019 2020 20222021
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 [RESERVED]

  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

The Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic
Although the spread of the Omicron variants temporarily 
decelerated the demand for travel in early 2022, customer 
confidence continued to grow over the course of the year, 

2022 Results
Our 2022 and 2021 results were adversely impacted by the 
COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, comparisons of our 2022 results 
to 2021 are not necessarily indicative of future operating results. 
In certain cases, we have also included comparisons of our 2022 
results to our 2019 results which are more reflective of pre-
pandemic operations.

 ■ System capacity increased by 19.1% year-over-year and 
increased by 1.0% compared to 2019.

 ■ We generated $9.2 billion in operating revenue, an increase of 
$3.1 billion compared to 2021, primarily due to a 31.5% increase 
in revenue passengers. When compared to 2019, our operating 
revenue increased by 13.1%, primarily driven by a 12.5% increase 
in yield, offset by a decrease in revenue passengers of 7.4%.

 ■ Operating revenue per available seat mile (RASM) increased by 
27.3% to 14.20 cents year-over-year and increased by 12.0% 
compared to 2019.

 ■ Operating expense increased by 54.6% year-over-year to 

 ■ Operating expense per available seat mile (CASM) increased by 
29.7% to 14.67 cents year-over-year and increased by 28.4% 
compared to 2019.

 ■ Our 2022 and 2021 results included the effects of special 
items. Excluding fuel and related taxes, special items, as well 
as operating expenses related to our non-airline businesses, 
our 2022 operating expense(1) increased by 13.0% to $6.2 billion, 
as compared to 2021. When compared to 2019, our operating 
expenses excluding fuel and related taxes, special items, as well 
as operating expenses related to our non-airline businesses(1) 
increased by 14.8%.

 ■ Excluding fuel and related taxes, special items, as well as 
operating expenses related to our non-airline businesses, our 
cost per available seat mile (CASM ex-fuel)(1) decreased by 5.2% 
to 9.59 cents year-over-year and increased by 13.6% compared 
to 2019.

 ■ Our operating margin was (3.3)% in 2022, (1.3)% in 2021, and 
9.9% in 2019. Excluding special items, our adjusted operating 
margins(1) were (2.0)%, (15.1)%, and 10.1% for the full years 2022, 
2021, and 2019, respectively. 

 ■ We reported a net loss of $(362) million in 2022 compared to a 
net loss of $(182) million in 2021. In 2019, reported net income 
was $569 million.

 ■ Our reported loss per share for 2022 and 2021 was $(1.12) and 
$(0.57), respectively. Excluding special items, our adjusted loss 
per share(1)

our reported earnings per diluted share was $1.91 and adjusted 
earnings per diluted share(1) was $1.90. 

 ■ During 2022, we took delivery of two Airbus A321neo aircraft 
and six Airbus A220 aircraft.

Outlook for 2023 

drove incremental challenges. We took decisive action to right-
size our growth plan for the remainder of the year, made additional 
investments into our operation, and implemented a new structural 

maintain a competitive cost structure. Despite these headwinds, 
we generated record annual revenue of $9.2 billion, ultimately 

set in 2022 positions JetBlue for future success. 

and 8.5% compared to 2022 as we plan to execute growth across 
our high-value network, including annualized growth through the 
NEA. We expect revenue to grow high single digits to low double 
digits year-over-year. We are focused on driving revenue growth 
through the maturation of our NEA, the evolution of our TrueBlue® 
loyalty program, and continued momentum from JBTP. We also 

(1) Refer to our “Regulation G Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” at the end of this section for more information on this non-GAAP measure.
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plan to keep our cost structure competitive. We expect cost per 
available seat mile, excluding fuel and related taxes, and operating 
expenses related to other non-airline businesses (CASM ex-fuel), 
for 2023 to increase by between approximately 1.5% to 4.5% year-
over-year which includes an approximate 3% point impact from a 
new ALPA agreement. We expect to deliver value to our customers 

and shareholders with strong revenue generation combined with 
our plan to keep costs low. Our expectations for full year 2023 
earnings per share to be in the range of $0.70 to $1.00 implies a 
margin trajectory approaching pre-pandemic levels as we move 
through the year.

Results of Operations

in 2021, a new SEC rule became effective that is intended 
to modernize, simplify, and enhance certain disclosures 

years and discussions comparing 2021 and 2020 results, as such 

website at . Please note that although our 2022 and 
2021 results were adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, 
the impact of COVID-19 on our operating results for 2022 and 2021 
were different. As a result, comparisons of our 2022 results to 

operating results for future reporting periods.

2022 Compared to 2021

OVERVIEW

We reported a net (loss) of $(362) million, an operating (loss) of 
$(298) million and operating margin of (3.3)% for the year ended 
December 31, 2022. This compares to net (loss) of $(182) million, 
operating (loss) of $(80) million, and operating margin of (1.3)% for 
the year ended December 31, 2021. Our (loss) per share was $(1.12) 
for 2022 compared to $(0.57) for 2021. 

Our 2022 and 2021 reported results included the effects of special 
items. Adjusting for these one-time items, our adjusted net (loss)(1) 
was $(260) million, adjusted operating (loss)(1) was $(185) million, and 
our adjusted operating margin(1) was (2.0)% for 2022. This compares 
to an adjusted net (loss) (1) of $(800) million, adjusted operating 
(loss)(1) of $(913) million, and an adjusted operating margin(1) of (15.1)% 
for 2021. Excluding one-time items, our adjusted (loss) per share(1) 
was $(0.80) for 2022 compared to $(2.52) for 2021.

OPERATING REVENUES

(revenues in millions; percent changes based on unrounded numbers)

Year-over-Year Change

2022 2021 $ %

Passenger revenue $ 8,586 $ 5,609 2,977 53.1

Other revenue 572 428 144 33.5

OPERATING REVENUES $ $

Average fare $ 217.03 $ 186.39 30.64 16.4

Yield per passenger mile (cents) 16.34 13.63 2.71 19.9

Passenger revenue per ASM (cents) 13.32 10.37 2.95 28.5

Operating revenue per ASM (cents) 14.20 11.16 3.04 27.3

Average stage length (miles) 1,213 1,283 (70) (5.5)

Revenue passengers (thousands) 39,562 30,094 9,468 31.5

Revenue passenger miles (millions) 52,552 41,152 11,400 27.7

Available seat miles (ASMs) (millions) 64,475 54,113 10,362 19.1

Load factor 81.5% 76.0% 5.5pts

Passenger revenue accounted for 93.8% of our total operating 
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022. In addition to seat 
revenue, passenger revenue includes revenue from our ancillary 
product offerings such as Even More® Space. Revenue generated 
from international routes, including Puerto Rico, accounted 
for 34% of our total operating revenues in 2022. Passenger 

revenue, including certain ancillary fees directly related to 
passenger tickets, is recognized when the transportation is 
provided. Passenger revenue from unused tickets and passenger 
credits are recognized in proportion to flown revenue based 
on estimates of expected expiration or when the likelihood of 
the customer exercising his or her remaining rights becomes 

(1) Refer to our “Regulation G Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” at the end of this section for more information on this non-GAAP measure.
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remote. We measure capacity in terms of available seat miles, 
which represents the number of seats available for passengers 

by dividing Passenger revenue by Revenue passenger miles. We 
attempt to increase Passenger revenue primarily by increasing 

seat mile. Our objective is to optimize our fare mix to increase our 
overall average fare while continuing to provide our customers 
with competitive fares.

In 2022, Passenger revenue increased by $2.98 billion, or 
53.1% year-over-year. The increase was primarily driven by the 
demand for travel as we gradually recovered from the COVID-19 

saw a 31.5% increase in Revenue passengers and a 16.4% increase 
in average fares compared to 2021.

Other revenue is primarily comprised of the marketing component 
of the sales of our TrueBlue® points. It also includes revenue from 
the sale of vacation packages, ground handling fees received from 
other airlines, and rental income. In 2022, other revenue increased 
by $144 million, or 33.5%, principally driven by a $106 million 
increase in marketing revenue associated with our TrueBlue® 
program due to higher customer spend and acquisitions.

OPERATING EXPENSES

(in millions; per ASM data in cents; percentages based 
on unrounded numbers)

Year-over-Year Change per ASM

2022 2021 $ % 2022 2021 % Change

Aircraft fuel and related taxes $ 3,105 $ 1,436 1,669 116.3 4.82 2.65 81.5

2,747 2,358 389 16.5 4.26 4.36 (2.3)

Landing fees and other rents 544 628 (84) (13.3) 0.84 1.16 (27.2)

Depreciation and amortization 585 540 45 8.4 0.91 1.00 (9.0)

Aircraft rent 114 99 15 15.0 0.18 0.18 (3.5)

Sales and marketing 289 183 106 57.7 0.45 0.34 32.3

Maintenance, materials and repairs 591 626 (35) (5.7) 0.91 1.15 (20.9)

Other operating expenses 1,368 1,080 288 26.7 2.12 2.00 6.3

Special Items 113 (833) 946 NM 0.18 (1.54) NM

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES $ $

AIRCRAFT FUEL AND RELATED TAXES 

Aircraft fuel and related taxes represented 32.8% of our total 
operating expenses in 2022 compared to 23.5% in 2021. The 
average fuel price increased 79.1% in 2022 to $3.69 per gallon. Our 
fuel consumption increased by 21.0%, or 146 million gallons, due 
to capacity increases as demand for travel grew. We expect our 
fuel consumption to be higher in 2023 as we anticipate returning 
capacity to pre-pandemic levels. 

We recognized fuel hedge losses of $7 million in 2022 on our 
consolidated statement of operations. There were no fuel hedge 
gains or losses recognized in 2021. These losses were recorded 
in Aircraft fuel and related taxes.

SALARIES, WAGES AND BENEFITS

in 2022, driven primarily by higher total hours worked by our 
crewmembers as we aligned our workforce with the increase in 
demand for air travel and the need for premium and incentive 

crewmember headcount also increased year-over-year. During 
2022, the average number of full-time equivalent crewmembers 
increased by 20.3%.

LANDING FEES AND OTHER RENTS

Landing fees and other rents include landing fees, which are at 

rents primarily consist of rent for airports in our BlueCities. 
Landing fees and other rents decreased $84 million, or 13.3%, 
in 2022. The year-over-year decrease is primarily driven by rate 

pre-COVID-19 levels. Departures increased by 25.8% compared 
to 2021. We expect landing fees and other rents to increase in 
2023 due to operating and growing in high-cost terminals. We 
expect full year 2023 capacity to increase between by 5.5% and 
8.5% compared to 2022. 

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

Depreciation and amortization primarily include depreciation 

entertainment systems. Depreciation and amortization increased 
$45 million, or 8.4%, primarily driven by an increase in the average 
number of aircraft operating in 2022 compared to the same period 
in 2021. We placed seven new aircraft into service during 2022.
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AIRCRAFT RENT

Aircraft rent increased $15 million, or 15.0%, in 2022. This 
increase was driven primarily by an increase of 21 leased 

life optimization and continuity of the operation due to supply 
chain constraints. 

SALES AND MARKETING

Sales and marketing increased $106 million, or 57.7%, in 2022 
driven by higher credit card fees and computer reservation 
system charges, which are directly related to demand increases 
as we recover from the pandemic. Revenue passengers increased 

MAINTENANCE, MATERIALS AND REPAIRS

Maintenance, materials, and repairs are generally expensed 

contract. The average age of our aircraft in 2022 was 12.4 years. 

both on an absolute basis and as a percentage of our unit costs, 
as older aircraft require additional, more expensive repairs over 
time. We had an average of 11.8 additional total operating aircraft 
in 2022 compared to 2021.

In 2022, Maintenance, materials and repairs decreased by $35 
million, or 5.7% compared to 2021. The decrease was driven by 
a decrease in the number of heavy engine maintenance events 
in 2022 as compared to 2021, which was partially offset by an 
increase in other maintenance activity driven by an increase in 

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

outside services, airport expenses (including expenses related to 

fueling, ground handling, skycap, security, and catering services), 
personnel expenses, professional and legal fees, onboard 

costs, and taxes other than payroll and fuel taxes. 

In 2022, other operating expenses increased by $288 million, 
or 26.7%, compared to 2021 due to higher levels of operations 
in response to the increased demand for air travel. Scheduled 
departures increased by 25.8% in 2022. 

SPECIAL ITEMS

 ■

 ■

 ■ Expense of $28 million related to our acquisition of Spirit 

 ■ Expense of $1 million relating to the implementation of the 
TWU contract.

 ■ Contra-expense of $830 million, which represents the 
amount of federal payroll support grants utilized during the 

 ■ Contra-expense of $11 million related to the recognition of 

 ■ One-time costs of $8 million related to the ratification 
of the collective bargaining agreement with our inflight 
crewmembers.

Consolidated Balance Sheet Analysis

(in millions)

Selected Balance Sheet Data: December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 $ Change % Change

ASSETS

Investment securities $ 350 $ 824 (474) (57.5)%

Receivables, net of allowance of $4 and $3, 

2021, respectively. 317 207 110 53.2%

Investment securities (non-current) 172 39 133 341.9%

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable $ 532 $ 499 33 6.5%

Other accrued liabilities 486 359 127 35.8%

3,647 4,006 (359) (9.0)%

Other 494 552 (58) (10.3)%
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Investment securities
Short-term investment securities decreased by $474 million, or 
57.5%, primarily driven by the maturities of our time deposits that 
were outstanding at December 31, 2021.

Receivables, net of allowance
Receivables, net of allowance, increased by $110 million, or 53.2%, 
as a result of improvements in customer demand which led to 
an increase in receivables from our credit card sales We also 
saw an increase in receivables from our co-brand and loyalty 
partnerships. 

Investment securities (non-current)
Long-term investment securities increased by $133 million 
principally driven by the purchases of corporate bonds in 2022.

Accounts payable
Accounts payable increased by $33 million, or 6.5%, primarily 
due to increases in operating expenses and timing of payments. 
Customer demand has rebounded in 2022 to pre-pandemic levels. 

Other accrued liabilities 
Other accrued liabilities increased by $127 million, or 35.8%, 
principally driven by the timing of passenger tax remittances to 
governmental authorities. Passenger taxes are collected from 
customers when tickets are sold and remitted to the authorities 
at a later date. The increase in passenger tax liability correlates 
to the increase in demand for travel as we recovered from the 
COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, the initial cash payments 
received from our new co-branded credit card agreements are 
deferred and recognized as revenue over the terms of the related 
contracts. Deferred amounts are classified as other accrued 
liabilities and other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet.

Total debt and finance lease obligations
Total debt and finance lease obligations decreased by $359 
million, or 9%, due primarily to $369 million of debt repayments 
made during 2022. 

Other liabilities
Other liabilities decreased by $58 million principally due to the 
initial cash payments received from our new co-branded credit 
card agreements in 2021. The initial cash payments received from 
our new co-branded credit card agreements are deferred and 
recognized as revenue over the terms of the related contracts. 

other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The airline business is capital intensive. Our ability to successfully 
execute our growth plans is largely dependent on the continued 
availability of capital on attractive terms. In addition, our ability 
to successfully operate our business depends on maintaining 
sufficient liquidity. We believe we have adequate resources 
from a combination of cash and cash equivalents and investment 
securities on-hand. During 2020, we executed a significant 

levels of liquidity to navigate through the challenges posed by 
the COVID-19 pandemic. As we recovered in 2021 and 2022, our 
focus shifted to strengthening our balance sheet, lowering our 
total cost of debt, and growing our unencumbered asset base. As 
of December 31, 2022, our unrestricted cash, cash equivalents, 
and short-term investments totaled $1.4 billion. Our adjusted debt 
to capitalization ratio(1) at December 31, 2022 was 52%, down from 
53% at December 31, 2021. 

We believe a healthy liquidity position is a crucial element 
of our ability to weather any part of the economic cycle while 
continuing to execute on our plans for profitable growth and 
increased returns. Our goal is to continue to be diligent with our 

spending. 

Analysis of Cash Flows
We had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of $1.0 billion as of 
December 31, 2022. This compares to $2.0 billion and $1.9 billion 
as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. We held both 
short and long-term investments in 2022, 2021, and 2020. Our 
short-term investments totaled $350 million as of December 31, 
2022 compared to $824 million and $1.1 billion as of December 31, 
2021 and 2020, respectively.

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash provided by operating activities totaled approximately 

activities of $1.6 billion in 2021 and cash used in operating 
activities of $683 million in 2020. 2021 includes federal grants 
received under various payroll support programs, and the 
initial cash receipts associated with our new co-branded credit 
card agreements, contributing to the $1.3 billion decrease in 

activities increased by $2.3 billion in 2021 compared to 2020 
principally driven by the receipt of federal grants in 2021 and the 
unprecedented decline in demand for air travel caused by the 
COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. 

(1) Refer to our “Regulation G Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” at the end of this section for more information on this non-GAAP measure.

47JETBLUE AIRWAYS CORPORATION    |    2022

|   



INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Cash used in investing activities totaled approximately 

2020, respectively.

equipment included $430 million for the purchase of two new 
Airbus A321neo aircraft, six Airbus A220 aircraft, and a number 

for spare part purchases. Other property and equipment capital 
expenditures included ground equipment purchases and facilities 
improvements for $132 million. Investing activities in 2022 also 
included the net proceeds of $321 million from our investment 
securities. In 2022, investing activities also included $297 million 
in payments related to our acquisition of Spirit. 

equipment included $637 million for the purchase of eight new 
Airbus A321neo aircraft, seven Airbus A220 aircraft, and a number 

for spare part purchases. Other property and equipment capital 
expenditures included ground equipment purchases and facilities 
improvements for $93 million. Investing activities in 2021 also 
included the net proceeds of $296 million from our investment 
securities.

equipment included $426 million for the purchase of seven new 

and $15 million for spare part purchases. Other property and 
equipment capital expenditures included ground equipment 
purchases and facilities improvements for $123 million. Investing 
activities in 2020 also included the net purchase of $767 million 
in investment securities. 

We executed aircraft sale-leaseback transactions totaling 

liquidity during the COVID-19 pandemic. Of these transactions, 
$209 million qualified as sales for accounting purposes and 

The remaining $354 million which did not qualify as sales for 

as noted below.

We currently anticipate capital expenditures of approximately 
$220 million for the first quarter of 2023, and approximately 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

We made progress in strengthening our balance sheet in 2022 by 
reducing our total debt balance from $4.0 billion at December 31, 
2021 to $3.6 billion at December 31, 2022. 

lease obligations, which included the following repayments and 

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■

 ■ $52 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock 
related to our crewmember stock purchase plan.

in financing fees, of which $35 million was related to the 

of Spirit, and $6 million used for the acquisition of treasury stock, 
which represents the return of shares to satisfy tax payments 
associated with crewmember stock compensation that vested 
during the period.

We plan to continue to opportunistically pay down those 
obligations with the highest costs as we continue to manage 
through the recovery. 

 ■

 ■

 ■ $115 million on our secured loan balance under the CARES Act 
Loan Program.

 ■ Net proceeds of $734 million from the issuance of our 0.50% 

 ■ Net proceeds of $276 million and $14 million from the 
issuances of unsecured term loans and warrants, respectively, 
in connection with Payroll Support Program 2 under the 
Consolidated Appropriations Act and Payroll Support Program 

 ■ $46 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock 
related to our crewmember stock purchase plan.

used for the acquisition of treasury stock which represents 
the return of shares to satisfy tax payments associated with 
crewmember stock compensation that vested during the period.

proceeds of $2.2 billion from drawdowns of our credit facilities 

 ■

 ■

 ■ $550 million from our revolving credit facility. 
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 ■ Net proceeds of $913 million from the public placements of 

 ■ Net proceeds of $583 million from the offering of 42 million 

 ■ $354 million of aircraft sale-leaseback transactions which did 

 ■ Net proceeds of $259 million and $19 million from the issuance of 
unsecured term loan and warrants, respectively, in connection 

 ■ Net proceeds of $105 million and $9 million from the issuance 
of secured term loan and warrants, respectively, in connection 

 ■ $35 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock 
related to our crewmember stock purchase plan.

These proceeds were partially offset by the payoff of our 
364-day delayed draw term loan facility for $1.0 billion, scheduled 
maturities of $372 million relating to debt and finance lease 
obligations, $12 million of which were associated with scheduled 
rent payments on sale-leaseback aircraft that did not qualify as 
sales for accounting purposes, and the acquisitions of treasury 
shares of $167 million, of which $160 million related to our 
accelerated share repurchases, or ASRs. Our share repurchase 
program has been suspended since March 31, 2020.

statement with the SEC. Under this shelf registration statement, 
we may offer and sell from time to time common stock, 
preferred stock, debt securities, depository shares, warrants, 
stock purchase contracts, stock purchase units, subscription 

future to raise capital to fund the continued development of our 
products and services, the commercialization of our products and 
services, to repay indebtedness, or for other general corporate 
purposes. The warrants issued by JetBlue to Treasury under the 
Acts were made, and any issuances of our underlying common 
stock are expected to be made, in reliance on the exemption from 
the registration afforded by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act 
for transactions not involving a public offering.

Capital Resources
Dependent on market conditions, we anticipate using debt 
financing for our expected aircraft deliveries in 2023. To the 

we may be required to pay in cash, further modify our aircraft 
acquisition plans, or incur higher than anticipated financing 

be available to us if needed, we cannot give assurances we will 

We have a revolving line of credit with Morgan Stanley for up to 
approximately $200 million. This line of credit is secured by a 
portion of our investment securities held by Morgan Stanley and 

the borrowing amount may vary accordingly. This line of credit 

Offered Rate, or LIBOR, plus a margin. We did not borrow under 
this facility in 2022 or 2021. 

We have a revolving Credit and Guaranty Agreement with 
Citibank N.A. as the administrative agent, for up to $600 million 

and certain other assets as permitted thereunder. The Revolving 

minimum balances in unrestricted cash, cash equivalents, and 
unused commitments available under revolving credit facilities. In 
addition, the covenants restrict our ability to, among other things, 
dispose of certain collateral, or merge, consolidate, or sell assets. 
As of and for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, we 
did not have a balance outstanding or any borrowings under the 

Working Capital

2021. Our working capital decreased by $1.7 billion due to several 
factors, including a decrease in cash and cash equivalents due 

obligations and an increase in current maturities of long term 
debt related to sale leaseback transactions. 

since a large portion of air traffic liability is classified within 
current liability.

We expect to meet our obligations as they become due through 
available cash, investment securities, and internally generated 
funds, supplemented, as necessary, by financing activities 
and federal government assistance programs, which may be 
available to us. We expect to generate positive operating cash 

might be from the extremely competitive environment in which 
we operate, or from events beyond our control, such as volatile 
fuel prices, economic conditions, weather-related disruptions, 
airport infrastructure challenges, the spread of infectious 
diseases, the impact of other airline bankruptcies, restructurings 
or consolidations, U.S. military actions, or acts of terrorism. We 

requirements for at least the next 12 months.

Debt and Finance Leases
As part of our efforts to effectively manage our balance sheet, 
we expect to continue to actively manage our debt balances. 
Our approach to debt management includes managing the mix 

weighted average cost of debt. Additionally, our unencumbered 

capital requirements. 
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Contractual Obligations

Payments due in

Total 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Thereafter
(1) $ 4.2 $ 0.7 $ 0.4 $ 0.3 $ 1.0 $ 0.2 $ 1.6

Operating lease obligations 1.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.5

7.9 1.6 2.1 1.8 1.4 1.0 —

Other obligations(2) 2.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.3

TOTAL $ $ $ $ $ $ $

or semi-annually based on LIBOR. The weighted average maturity 

with the covenants of our debt and lease agreements and 
approximately 65% of our owned property and equipment and 
intangible assets at net book value were pledged or committed 
to be pledged as security under various loan agreements.

aircraft with lease terms that expire between 2023 and 2032. Our 
aircraft lease agreements contain termination provisions which 

include standard maintenance and return conditions. Our policy 
is to record these lease return conditions when they are probable 
and the costs can be estimated. We also lease airport terminal 
space and other airport facilities in each of our markets, as well 

of credit related to certain of our leases which will expire at the 
end of the related leases. In November 2022, we partnered with 

amount is included in restricted cash on the consolidated balance 

1

Year Airbus A321neo Airbus A220 Total

2023 12 18 30

2024 13 30 43

2025 11 24 35

2026 12 14 26

2027 14 — 14

TOTAL

include estimated amounts for contractual price escalations 
and pre-delivery deposits. We expect to meet our pre-delivery 
deposit requirements for our aircraft by paying cash or by using 
short-term borrowing facilities for deposits generally required 

by the issuance of notes are fully repaid at the time of delivery of 
the related aircraft. 

making various payments under the lease. This includes ground 

rents for the terminal site which began at the time of the lease 
execution in 2005 and facility rents commenced in October 

on the number of passengers enplaned out of the terminal, 

construction costs of this project in accordance with the terms 
of the lease, except for approximately $76 million in leasehold 
improvements provided by us. In 2012, we amended this lease 
to include additional ground space for our international arrivals 
facility, T5i, which we opened in November 2014. Minimum ground 

commitments table above as operating lease obligations. In 
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November 2022, we amended the lease to relinquish a portion of 
the former Terminal 6 property to allow for development of a new 
Terminal 6 by our development partners JMP. 

executed a new lease for our primarily corporate offices that 
will extend our stay in the present Long Island City location until 
2039. The term of this lease will begin in 2023. The new lease 

option to terminate the lease in 2034. At the end of the initial 
lease term, we have the option to renew the lease for either one 

We enter into individual employment agreements with each of 

or the crewmember elects not to renew it. Pursuant to these 
agreements, these crewmembers can only be terminated for 
cause. In the event of a downturn in our business requiring a 

pay these crewmembers a guaranteed level of income and to 
continue their benefits. As we are not currently obligated to 

to these guarantees are included in the contractual obligations 
table above. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have determined that we hold a variable interest in, but are 

aircraft. Each trust maintains a liquidity facility whereby a third 

occurs. 

We have also made certain guarantees and indemnities to other 
unrelated parties that are not reflected on our consolidated 

have no other off-balance sheet arrangements. See Notes 3, 4, 

for a more detailed discussion of our variable interests and other 
contingencies, including guarantees and indemnities.

Climate Change 
Concern over climate change, including the impact of global 

and regulatory efforts to limit greenhouse gas emissions, 
including our aircraft and ground operations emissions. Below 
is a discussion of the regulations that are relevant to JetBlue and 
the efforts we have taken to address climate change.

Legislation, Regulation, and Accords on 
Climate Change

CARBON OFFSETTING AND REDUCTION SCHEME FOR 
INTERNATIONAL AVIATION

In October 2016, ICAO passed a resolution adopting the Carbon 
Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation 

program to encourage carbon-neutral growth beyond 2020. 
Annual international emissions reporting is required via CORSIA as 
of the 2019 reporting year, and offsetting compliance is scheduled 
to be implemented through multiple phases beginning in 2021. In 
2020, given the impact of COVID-19 which dramatically reduced 
2020 emissions, ICAO agreed that the baseline from which the 
industry achieves carbon neutral growth would be from 2019 only, 
rather than an average of 2019 and 2020 as originally intended. 
ICAO continues to develop details regarding implementation, but 
we expect compliance with CORSIA will increase our operating 
costs. 

SUSTAINABLE SKIES ACT 

In May 2021, the Sustainable Skies Act was introduced in the 
United States Congress to amend the Internal Revenue Code of 

ranging from $1.50 per gallon to $2.00 per gallon.

We are supportive of this proposed legislation and consider this 
to be a meaningful development to stimulate the production of 

this to be an important step in helping the U.S. airline industry 
reach its goal of achieving net-zero carbon emissions by 2050.

Actions Taken to Address Climate Change
JetBlue is committed to proactively responding to climate 
change by taking meaningful steps to decarbonize our business 
and mitigating climate risks that may materially impact the 
business. As one of our key company-wide strategic priorities, 
we are pursuing six key levers to decarbonize our business. We 
discuss these levers and other sustainability initiatives in “Item 

above.
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Other Impacts of Climate Change
The number of extreme weather events, such as hurricanes, 
typhoons, wildfires, and rainstorms, associated with climate 
change is expected to increase. Occurrences of these extreme 

weather events may result inflight cancellations, delays, and 
diversions, severely impacting our operations and thus adversely 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in 
the United States, or GAAP, requires management to adopt 
accounting policies as well as make estimates and judgments 
to develop amounts reported in our financial statements and 
accompanying notes. We maintain a thorough process to review 
the application of our accounting policies and to evaluate the 
appropriateness of the estimates that are required to prepare our 

of such amounts could differ from those estimates. In addition, 
estimates routinely require adjustment based on changing 
circumstances and the receipt of new or better information.

that could potentially result in materially different results under 
different assumptions and conditions. The policies and estimates 
discussed below have been reviewed with our independent 

Ticket sales and the fees collected for related ancillary services 
are initially deferred in air traffic liability. Air traffic liability 

used for future travel, and a portion of the liability related to our 
TrueBlue® loyalty program. We allocate the transaction price to 

a relative standalone basis. Passenger revenue, including certain 
ancillary fees directly related to passenger tickets, is recognized 
when the transportation is provided. Taxes that we are required 
to collect from our customers, including foreign and U.S. federal 
transportation taxes, security taxes, and airport facility charges, 
are excluded from passenger revenue. Those taxes and fees are 
recorded as a liability upon collection and are relieved from the 
liability upon remittance to the applicable governmental agency.

The majority of the tickets we sell are non-refundable. Non-
refundable fares may be canceled prior to the scheduled 
departure date for a credit for future travel. Refundable fares 
may be canceled at any time prior to the scheduled departure 

result in the cancellation of the original ticket and an issuance 
of a credit for future travel. Passenger credits can generally be 
used for future travel up to a year from the date of issuance. In 

response to the impact of COVID-19 on air travel, we extended the 

through June 30, 2020 to a 24-month period. In January 2022, in 

in late 2021, we further extended the expiration dates for travel 

through September 29, 2022 to September 30, 2022. All credits 
extended due to COVID-19 have expired as of December 31, 2022.

Passenger breakage revenue from unused tickets and passenger 

on estimates of expected expiration when the likelihood of the 
customer exercising his or her remaining rights becomes remote. 
Breakage revenue consists of non-refundable tickets that remain 
unused past the departure date, have continued validity, and are 
expected to ultimately expire unused, as well as passenger credits 
that are not expected to be redeemed prior to expiration. JetBlue 
uses estimates based on historical experience of expired tickets 
and credits and considers other factors that could impact future 
expiration patterns of tickets and credits. Tickets which do not 
have continued validity past the departure date are recognized as 
revenue after the scheduled departure date has lapsed.

Passenger ticket costs primarily include credit card fees, 
commissions paid, and global distribution systems booking fees. 
Costs are allocated entirely to the purchased travel services and 
are capitalized until recognized when travel services are provided 
to the customer. 

Customers may earn points under our customer loyalty program, 
TrueBlue®, based on the fare paid and fare product purchased for a 

such as credit card companies, hotels, car rental companies, and 
our participating airline partners. 

POINTS EARNED FROM A TICKET PURCHASE

When a TrueBlue® member travels, we recognize a portion of the 

represents the value of the points net of spoilage, or breakage. We 
allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation on 
a relative standalone basis. We determine the standalone selling 
price of TrueBlue® points issued using the redemption value 
approach. To maximize the use of observable inputs, we utilize the 
actual ticket value of the tickets purchased with TrueBlue® points. 
The liability is relieved and passenger revenue is recognized when 
the points are redeemed and the free travel is provided.
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POINTS SOLD TO TRUEBLUE® PARTNERS 

Our most significant contract to sell TrueBlue® points is 
with our co-branded credit card partner. Co-branded credit 
card partnerships have the following identified performance 

selling price, JetBlue considers multiple inputs, methods, and 

the volume of points sold during the period, and the terms of 
our marketing contracts are generally from one to ten years. The 
overall consideration received is allocated to each performance 
obligation based on its relative standalone selling price. The air 
transportation element is deferred and recognized as passenger 
revenue when the points are redeemed. The other elements are 
recognized as other revenue when the performance obligations 

period as when consideration is received from the participating 
company. 

Amounts allocated to the air transportation element which 
are initially deferred include a portion that are expected to be 
redeemed during the following twelve months (included within 
Air traffic liability), and a portion that are not expected to be 
redeemed during the following twelve months (included within Air 

and adjust the split between current and non-current liabilities 
as appropriate. 

Points earned by TrueBlue® members never expire. TrueBlue® 
members can pool points between small groups of people, 
branded as Points Pooling™. Breakage is estimated using 
historical redemption patterns to determine a breakage rate. 
Breakage rates used to estimate breakage revenue are evaluated 
annually. Changes to breakage estimates impact revenue 
recognition prospectively. 

In accounting for long-lived assets, we make estimates about the 
expected useful lives, projected residual values, and the potential 
for impairment. In estimating useful lives and residual values of 
our aircraft, we have relied upon actual industry experience with 
the same or similar aircraft types and our anticipated utilization 
of the aircraft. Changing market prices of new and used aircraft, 
government regulations, and changes in our maintenance 
program or operations could result in changes to these estimates. 

Our long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment when 
events and circumstances indicate the assets may be impaired. 
Indicators include operating or cash flow losses, significant 
decreases in market value, or changes in technology.

To determine if impairment exists for our aircraft used in 

maintenance requirements, and other relevant conditions. An 
impairment occurs when the sum of the estimated undiscounted 
future cash flows are less than the aggregate carrying value 

We estimate aircraft fair value using third party valuations which 
consider the effects of the current market environment, age of 
the assets, maintenance condition of the airframe and engines 
and marketability. We recorded $52 million of impairment 

in Item 8 for further details of our impairment charges.

operating leases with minimum lease payments. We recognize 
the costs associated with these agreements as rent expense 
on a straight-line basis over the expected lease term. Within 
the provisions of certain leases, there are minimum escalations 
in payments over the base lease term. There are also periodic 
adjustments of lease rates, landing fees, and other charges 
applicable under such agreements, as well as renewal periods. 
The effects of the escalations and other adjustments have been 

term. This includes renewal periods when it is deemed to be 
reasonably assured at the inception of the lease. The amortization 
period for leasehold improvements is the term used in calculating 
straight-line rent expense or their estimated economic life, 
whichever is shorter.

of changing aircraft fuel prices. We do not purchase or hold 

are determined using commodity prices provided to us by 
independent third parties. When possible, we designate these 

which permits the deferral of the effective portions of gains or 
losses until contract settlement.
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The  topic is a complex accounting 

(1) our fuel hedging program and fuel management approach,

(2) statistical analysis supporting a highly correlated relationship 

instrument and the risk being hedged, i.e. aircraft fuel, on both 
a historical and prospective basis, and

to be developed concurrently with the hedging transaction. 

This documentation requires us to estimate forward aircraft fuel 
prices since there is no reliable forward market for aircraft fuel. 
These prices are developed through the observation of similar 
commodity futures prices, such as crude oil and/or heating oil, 
and adjusted based on variations to those like commodities. 

the deferred gains and losses have been recognized into earnings 
over a relatively short period of time.

Regulation G Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Non-GAAP financial measures are financial measures that 
are derived from the consolidated financial statements, but 
that are not presented in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United States, or GAAP. We believe 
these non-GAAP financial measures provide a meaningful 
comparison of our results to others in the airline industry and 

from the non-GAAP information provided by other companies. 
The information below provides an explanation of each non-
GAAP financial measure and shows a reconciliation of non-

Operating Expense per Available Seat Mile, 
excluding fuel and related taxes, other non-
airline operating expenses, and special items 
(“CASM Ex-Fuel”)
Operating expenses per available seat mile, or CASM, is a common 

related taxes, operating expenses related to other non-airline 
businesses, such as our subsidiaries, JetBlue Technology 
Ventures and JetBlue Travel Products, and special items from 
operating expenses to determine CASM ex-fuel, which is a non-

Special items for 2022 include impairment related to our Embraer 
E190 fleet transition, expenses related to the ALPA contract 

and expenses related to the implementation of the TWU contract.

Special items for 2021 include contra-expenses recognized on 
the utilization of federal grants received under various payroll 
support programs, contra-expenses recognized on the Employee 
Retention Credits provided by the CARES Act, and one-time costs 

Special items for 2020 include contra-expenses recognized 
on the utilization of payroll support grants received under the 
CARES Act, contra-expenses recognized on the Employee 
Retention Credits provided by the CARES Act, impairment 

from certain aircraft sale-leaseback transactions, and one-time 
costs associated with our voluntary crewmember separation 
programs.

Special items for 2019 include impairment related to our Embraer 
E190 fleet transition as well as one-time costs related to the 

agreement.

We believe that CASM ex-fuel is useful for investors because it 

excluding items beyond our control, such as fuel costs, which are 
subject to many economic and political factors, or not related 
to the generation of an available seat mile, such as operating 
expense related to other non-airline businesses. We believe this 
non-GAAP measure is more indicative of our ability to manage 
airline costs and is more comparable to measures reported by 
other major airlines. 
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NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURE  
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING EXPENSE PER ASM, EXCLUDING FUEL

(in millions; per ASM data in cents)

2022 2021 2020 2019

$ per ASM $ per ASM $ per ASM $ per ASM

Total operating expenses $ 9,456 14.67 $ 6,117 11.30 $ 4,671 14.29 $ 7,294 11.43

Aircraft fuel and related taxes 3,105 4.82 1,436 2.65 631 1.93 1,847 2.89

Other non-airline expenses 55 0.08 43 0.08 35 0.10 46 0.08

Special items 113 0.18 (833) (1.54) (283) (0.86) 14 0.02

Operating expenses, excluding fuel $ 6,183 9.59 $ 5,471 10.11 $ 4,288 13.12 $ 5,387 8.44

Reconciliation of Operating Expense, Income 
(Loss) before Taxes, Net Income (Loss) and 
Earnings (Loss) per Share, excluding special 
items and gain on equity investments
Our GAAP results in the applicable periods were impacted by 
credits and charges that are deemed special items.

Special items for 2022 include impairment related to our Embraer 
E190 fleet transition, expenses related to the ALPA contract 

and expenses related to the implementation of the TWU contract.

In 2021, special items include contra-expenses recognized on 
the utilization of federal grants received under various payroll 
support programs, contra-expenses recognized on the Employee 
Retention Credits (ERCs) provided by the CARES Act, and one-

Special items in 2020 include contra-expenses recognized on the 
utilization of payroll support grants received under the CARES 
Act, contra-expenses recognized on ERCs, impairment related 
to our Embraer E190 fleet transition, losses generated from 
certain aircraft sale-leaseback transactions, and one-time costs 
associated with our voluntary crewmember separation programs. 

Certain gains and losses on our equity investments were also 
excluded from our 2022 and 2021 non-GAAP results. 

We believe the impact of these items distort our overall trends and 
that our metrics are more comparable with the presentation of 
our results excluding the impact of these items. The table below 
provides a reconciliation of our GAAP reported amounts to the 
non-GAAP amounts excluding the impacts of these items.
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NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURE 
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING EXPENSE, INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TAXES, NET INCOME (LOSS) AND EARNINGS 
(LOSS) PER SHARE EXCLUDING SPECIAL ITEMS AND GAIN ON EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions except per share amounts) 2022 2021 2020

Total Operating Revenues $ 9,158 $ 6,037 $ 2,957

Total Operating Expenses $ 9,456 $ 6,117 $ 4,671

 113 (833) (283)

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES EXCLUDING SPECIAL ITEMS $ $ $

Operating loss $ (298) $ (80) $ (1,714)

 113 (833) (283)

OPERATING LOSS EXCLUDING SPECIAL ITEMS $ ) $ ) $ )

)% )% )%

Loss before income taxes $ (437) $ (263) $ (1,893)

 113 (833) (283)

 (9)  47 —

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES EXCLUDING SPECIAL ITEMS AND  
(LOSS) GAIN ON EQUITY INVESTMENTS $ ) $ ) $ )

)% )% )%

Net loss $ (362) $ (182) $ (1,354)

 113 (833) (283)

 19 (249) (69)

 (9) 47 —

 1 (13) —

NET LOSS EXCLUDING SPECIAL ITEMS AND (LOSS) GAIN ON EQUITY  
INVESTMENTS $ ) $ ) $ )

Earnings loss per common share:

Basic $ (1.12) $ (0.57) $ (4.88)

0.29 (1.84) (0.77)

(0.03) 0.10 —

BASIC EXCLUDING SPECIAL ITEMS AND (LOSS) GAIN ON EQUITY INVESTMENTS $ ) $ ) $ )

Diluted $ (1.12) $ (0.57) $ (4.88)

0.29 (1.84) (0.77)

(0.03)  0.1 —

DILUTED EXCLUDING SPECIAL ITEMS AND (LOSS) GAIN ON EQUITY INVESTMENTS $ ) $ ) $ )

Adjusted Debt to Capitalization Ratio
Adjusted debt to capitalization ratio is a non-GAAP financial 

lease liabilities, in addition to total debt and finance lease 
obligations. Adjusted capitalization represents total equity plus 

measures prepared in accordance with GAAP.
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NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURE 
ADJUSTED DEBT TO CAPITALIZATION RATIO

(in millions)

December 31,

2022 2021

$ 3,093 $ 3,651

554 355

Operating lease liabilities — aircraft 206 256

Adjusted debt $ $

$ 3,093 $ 3,651

554 355

Operating lease liabilities — aircraft 206 256

Stockholders' equity 3,563 3,849

Adjusted capitalization $ $

Adjusted debt to capitalization ratio % %

Free Cash Flow

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURE 
RECONCILIATION OF FREE CASH FLOW

(in millions)

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020 2019

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 379 $ 1,642 $ (683) $ 1,449

(767) (907) (715) (932)

(156) (88) (76) (224)

FREE CASH FLOW $ ) $ $ ) $

Glossary of Airline terminology
Airline terminology used in this section and elsewhere in this 

 ■ Aircraft utilization - The average number of block hours 

 ■ Available seat miles - The number of seats available for 
passengers multiplied by the number of miles the seats are 

 ■ Average fare -
by a revenue passenger.

 ■ Average fuel cost per gallon - Total aircraft fuel costs, including 
fuel taxes and effective portion of fuel hedging, divided by the 
total number of fuel gallons consumed.

 ■ Average stage length -

 ■ Load factor - The percentage of aircraft seating capacity 
actually utilized, calculated by dividing revenue passenger miles 
by available seat miles.

 ■ Operating expense per available seat mile - Operating expenses 
divided by available seat miles.

 ■ Operating expense per available seat mile, excluding fuel - 
Operating expenses, less aircraft fuel, other non-airline 
expenses, and special items, divided by available seat miles.

 ■ Operating revenue per available seat mile - Operating revenues 
divided by available seat miles.

 ■ Passenger revenue per available seat mile - Passenger revenue 
divided by available seat miles.

 ■ Revenue passengers - The total number of paying passengers 

 ■ Revenue passenger miles - The number of miles flown by 
revenue passengers.

 ■ Yield per passenger mile - The average amount one passenger 
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  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT 
MARKET RISK

The risk inherent in our market risk sensitive instruments and 
positions is the potential loss arising from adverse changes to the 
price of fuel and interest rates as discussed below. The sensitivity 
analyses presented do not consider the effects such adverse 
changes may have on the overall economic activity, nor do they 
consider additional actions we may take to mitigate our exposure 

to such changes. Variable-rate leases are not considered market 

in the interest rate sensitivity analysis below. Actual results 
may differ from the sensitivity analyses. See Notes 1, 4 and 13 

accounting policies and additional information. 

Our results of operations are affected by changes in the price 
and availability of aircraft fuel. Market risk is estimated as a 

gallon of fuel. Based on projected 2023 fuel consumption, such 
an increase would result in an increase to aircraft fuel expense 

we have hedged 8.8% of our projected fuel requirement for the 

projected fuel requirement for the second quarter of 2023 and 
5.5% for the third quarter of 2023. 

our counterparties may require us to fund all, or a portion of, 
outstanding loss positions related to these contracts prior to 
their scheduled maturities. The amount of collateral posted, if 
any, is periodically adjusted based on the fair value of the hedge 
contracts. 

Our earnings are affected by changes in interest rates due to the 
impact those changes have on interest expense from variable-rate 
debt instruments and on interest income generated from our cash 

on average 100 basis points higher in 2023 than they were during 
2022, our interest expense would increase by approximately 

the hypothetical change in interest rates on our variable rate debt.

If interest rates were an average 100 basis points lower in 2023 
than they were during 2022, our interest income from cash and 
investment balances would decrease by approximately $1 million. 
This amount is determined by considering the impact of the 
hypothetical interest rates on the balances of our money market 
funds and short-term, interest-bearing investments.
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 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of JetBlue 
Airways Corporation

Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets of JetBlue Airways Corporation (the Company) as 

Basis for Opinion 

PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

evaluating the accounting principles used and significant 

Critical Audit Matter 

was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit 

communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any 
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Loyalty Program - Breakage

Matter

for issued points using historical redemption patterns and records revenue for points that are not expected to be 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of JetBlue 
Airways Corporation

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting

Basis for Opinion

effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 

registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent 

securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective 

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control 

performing such other procedures as we considered necessary 

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control 
Over Financial Reporting

designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 

statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 

transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 

assets that could have a material effect on the financial 
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JETBLUE AIRWAYS CORPORATION

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2022 2021

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ $

Investment securities

Prepaid expenses and other

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT   

Flight equipment

OPERATING LEASE ASSETS

OTHER ASSETS   

Investment securities

Other

TOTAL ASSETS $ 13,045 $ 13,642
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JETBLUE AIRWAYS CORPORATION

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2022 2021

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable $ $

Other accrued liabilities

Current operating lease liabilities

LONG-TERM DEBT AND FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS

LONG-TERM OPERATING LEASE LIABILITIES

DEFERRED TAXES AND OTHER LIABILITIES  

Deferred income taxes

Other

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (NOTES 10 & 11)

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   

— — 

) )

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income — —

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 13,045 $ 13,642
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JETBLUE AIRWAYS CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years Ended December 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2022 2021 2020

OPERATING REVENUES

Passenger $ $ $

Other

OPERATING EXPENSES

Aircraft fuel and related taxes

Aircraft rent

)

Other operating expenses

OPERATING LOSS ) ) )

OTHER (EXPENSE) INCOME

Interest expense ) ) )

Interest income

) —

Other ) ) )

) ) )

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES ) ) )

) ) )

NET LOSS $ (362) $ ) $ (1,354)

LOSS PER COMMON SHARE

Basic $ ) $ ) $ )

Diluted $ ) $ ) $ )
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JETBLUE AIRWAYS CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2022 2021 2020

NET LOSS $ (362) $ ) $ (1,354)

Changes in fair value of available-for-sale investment securities and 

— — )

— — )

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS $ (362) $ ) $ (1,356)
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JETBLUE AIRWAYS CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2022 2021 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

$ ) $ ) $ )

activities:
  

Deferred income taxes ) ) )

—

— —

—

)

Changes in certain operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in receivables ) )

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and other accrued liabilities )

) )

)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

Capital expenditures ) ) )

) )

Purchase of held-to-maturity investments ) ) —

Proceeds from the maturities of held-to-maturity investments —

Purchase of available-for-sale securities ) ) )

Proceeds from the sale of available-for-sale securities

— —

) — —

) ) —

) ) )

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt —

Proceeds from short-term borrowings — —

— —

—
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Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2022 2021 2020

) ) )

— — )

) ) )

) — )

) )

(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED 
CASH )

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH AT END OF PERIOD(1) $ $ 2,077 $ 1,969

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash payments for interest $ $ $

)

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Operating lease assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities $ $ $

(1) Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the consolidated balance sheets:

December 31,

(in millions) 2022 2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalents $ $ $

TOTAL CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH $ $ 2,077 $ 1,969
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JETBLUE AIRWAYS CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(in millions)
Common 

Shares 
Common 

Stock
Treasury 

Shares
Treasury 

Stock

Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital

Retained 
Earnings

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss) Total

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 427 $ 4 145 $ ) $ 2,253 $ 4,322 $ 2 $ 4,799

— — — — — ) — )

Other comprehensive (loss) — — — — — — ) )

— — ) — — — )

— — — — — —

— — — — —

— — ) — — )

— — — — — —

— — — —

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2020 474 $ 5 $ ) $ 2,959 $ $ — $ 3,951

— — — — — ) — )

— — ) — — — )

— — — — — —

— — — — —

Warrants issued under federal 
support programs — — — — — —

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2021 $ 5 $ ) $ 3,047 $ $ — $

— — — — — ) — )

— ) — — — )

— — — — — — 

— — — — — 

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2022 $ 5 159 $ (1,995) $ 3,129 $ 2,424 $ — $ 3,563
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JETBLUE AIRWAYS CORPORATION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

offerings combined with our competitive cost advantage enables 

NOTE

Basis of Presentation 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 

amounts disclosed are stated before consideration of income 

Use of Estimates 

Fair Value  
   topic of the Financial 

for measuring fair value and requires enhanced disclosures about 

an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

about how fair value is determined for assets and liabilities and 
establishes a hierarchy for which these assets and liabilities must 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

and time deposits with maturities of three months or less when 

Restricted Cash

Accounts Receivable

amounts due from credit card companies associated with sales of 

Investment in Debt Securities 
Investment in debt securities consist of available-for-sale 

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT SECURITIES

Our available-for-sale investment securities include highly 

and convertible debt securities which are stated at fair value 
and included in investments securities on the consolidated 

million in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) on 

HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENT SECURITIES 

Our held-to-maturity investments consist of investment-grade 
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less than twelve months are included in investment securities in 

included in investment securities in the other assets section of 

gains or losses on these securities during the years ended 

of these investments approximated their carrying value as of 

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Available-for-sale securities

$ $

Commercial paper

Debt securities

Held-to-maturity securities

Corporate bonds

TOTAL INVESTMENT IN DEBT SECURITIES $ 514 $

Investment in Equity Securities 

EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENTS

Investments in which we can exercise significant influence 
are accounted for using the equity method in accordance with 

of 

OTHER INVESTMENTS

Our equity investment securities include investments in common 

are recorded within investment securities in the Current Assets 

other income on our consolidated statement of operations for 

on our consolidated statement of operations for the year ending 

emerging companies which do not have readily determinable 

using a measurement alternative which allows entities to measure 

changes from observable price changes in orderly transactions 

also accounted for under the measurement alternative in other 

Derivative Instruments

are included in other current assets on our consolidated balance 

Inventories
Inventories consist of expendable aircraft spare parts and 

obsolescence on aircraft spare parts and supplies is provided over 
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Property and Equipment 
We record our property and equipment at cost and depreciate 
these assets on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 

modifications enhancing the operating performance of our 

Estimated useful lives and residual values for our property and equipment are as follows:

Property and Equipment Type Estimated Useful Life Residual Value

Aircraft

Aircraft parts Fleet life

Flight equipment leasehold improvements

Buildings on leased land
(1) The estimated remaining useful life of our Embraer E190 fleet ranges from 0-2 years with an average residual value of  12%.

equal to the present value of future minimum lease payments 
which is computed on the basis of our incremental borrowing rate 

the expected useful life to their estimated residual values and is 

We record impairment losses on long-lived assets used in 
operations when events and circumstances indicate the assets 

Software  

using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 

expense related to computer software is expected to be 

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
Our indefinite-lived intangible assets consist primarily of 

are a means by which airport capacity and congestion can be 

impairment at least annually or when events and circumstances 

if events and circumstances could reasonably have affected the 

Passenger Revenue    

taxes and fees are recorded as a liability upon collection and 
are relieved from the liability upon remittance to the applicable 

may be canceled at any time prior to the scheduled departure 
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credits and considers other factors that could impact future 

Costs are allocated entirely to the purchased travel services 

we extended the expiration dates for travel credits issued from 

expiration dates for travel credits with an original expiration 

Loyalty Program

POINTS EARNED FROM A TICKET PURCHASE

allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation on 

POINTS SOLD TO TRUEBLUE® PARTNERS

card partnerships have the following identified performance 
obligations: air transportation; use of the JetBlue brand name 

to be awarded and redeemed; estimated annual spending by 

received is allocated to each performance obligation based 

other revenue when the performance obligations related to those 

Amounts allocated to the air transportation element which 
are initially deferred include a portion that are expected to be 
redeemed during the following twelve months (included within 

redeemed during the following twelve months (included within Air 

Airframe and Engine Maintenance and Repair

equipment is charged to expense as incurred unless covered by 

separate service agreements in place covering scheduled and 
unscheduled repairs of certain airframe line replacement unit 

agreements require monthly payments at rates based either on 
the number of cycles each aircraft was operated during each 

Advertising Costs

Share-Based Compensation
We record compensation expense for share-based awards 

compensation expense includes an estimate for pre-vesting 
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Income Taxes

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

for certain convertible instruments by removing the separation 
models for convertible debt with a cash conversion feature and 

as a single liability instrument with no separate accounting 

amends the diluted earnings per share calculation for convertible 

this convertible note was included within long-term debt and 

government (including government assistance) they account 

NOTE 2 Revenue Recognition

TWELVE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2022 2021 2020

Passenger revenue

Passenger travel $ $ $

Other revenue

Other revenue

TOTAL REVENUE $ $ 6,037 $ 2,957

purchases are recorded as a reduction to 
transportation
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Contract Liabilities

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

$ $

Deferred revenue

TOTAL $ $

(1) Deferred revenue is included within other accrued liabilities and other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets.

to not disclose the amount of the remaining transaction price 

the contract has an original expected duration of one year or 

this practical expedient to our contract liabilities relating to 

related passenger credits expire generally one year from the 

beginning of the period as well as points that were issued during 

Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 733

)

Balance at December 31, 2021

)

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2022 $ 1,000
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NOTE 3  Long-term Debt, Short-term Borrowings and Finance Lease 
Obligations

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Secured Debt

$ $

Fixed rate enhanced equipment notes:

Unsecured Debt

TOTAL DEBT AND FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS $ 3,676 $ 4,042

LONG-TERM DEBT AND FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS $ 3,093 $ 3,651

Fixed Rate Specialty Bonds

bonds to JetBlue as reimbursement for certain airport facility 

refunded bonds were loaned to us and we recorded the issuance 

Fixed Rate Enhanced Equipment Notes

2019-1 EQUIPMENT NOTES
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2020-1 EQUIPMENT NOTES

Fixed Rate Enhanced Equipment Notes, Due 
Through 2023

were used to purchase equipment notes issued by JetBlue and 

Fixed Rate Equipment Notes, Due Through 
2028

Floating Rate Equipment Notes, Due Through 
2028

Federal Payroll Support Programs

CARES ACT – PAYROLL SUPPORT PROGRAM

CONSOLIDATED APPROPRIATIONS ACT – PAYROLL SUPPORT 
PROGRAM 2

interest on the principal amount outstanding at an annual rate 

AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT – PAYROLL SUPPORT 
PROGRAM 3

in the federal payroll support program for passenger air carriers 

term and bear interest on the principal amount outstanding at an 
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will be exercisable either through net cash settlement or net share 

as a contra-expense within special items on our consolidated 

fair value of the warrants were recorded within additional paid-in 

from the payroll support grants and from the issuance of payroll 

from the loans were classified as financing activities on our 

2020 Aircraft Sale-Leaseback Transactions

with these transactions remain on our consolidated balance 
sheets within property and equipment and the related 
liabilities under the lease are classified within debt and 

cash from financing activities on our consolidated statements 

transactions qualified as sales and generated a loss of 

which qualified as sales are recorded within operating lease 

lease liabilities and long-term operating lease liabilities on 

treated as cash from investing activities on our consolidated 

Finance Leases 

finance leases were included in property and equipment at a 

finance leases were included in property and equipment at a 

0.50% Convertible Senior Notes, Due 
Through 2026

all of our existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness and 
senior in right of payment to our existing and future subordinated 

any of our existing and future secured indebtedness to the extent 
of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness and are 
structurally subordinated to all of our indebtedness and other 

aggregate principal amount of the notes to be converted 

immediately preceding the date on which we provide notice of 

we evaluated the conversion feature of this note offering for 

Debt
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General Debt Matters

Maturities

$

were as follows (in millions):

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Carrying Value
Estimated  
Fair Value Carrying Value

Estimated  
Fair Value

Public Debt

$ $ $ $

Fixed rate enhanced equipment notes:

Non-Public Debt

TOTAL(1) $ 3,645 $ $ 4,003 $

(1) Total excludes finance lease obligations of $2 million and $3 million at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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of our non-public debt are estimated using a discounted cash 

used to purchase equipment notes which are issued by us and 

considers both quantitative and qualitative factors including the 
purpose for which these trusts were established and the nature 

to enhance the credit worthiness of our debt obligation through 

involvement in them is limited to principal and interest payments 

Short-term Borrowings

MORGAN STANLEY LINE OF CREDIT 

CITIBANK LINE OF CREDIT

2022 $3.5 billion Senior Secured Bridge Facility

senior secured bridge facility in an aggregate principal amount 
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pursuant to which the Commitment Parties have committed to 

provide a senior secured bridge facility in an aggregate principal 

NOTE 4 Leases
Operating lease assets represent our right to use an underlying 

commencement date based on the estimated present value of 

rate implicit in the lease to discount lease payments to present 

discount the lease payments based on information available at 

As of December 31,

2022 2021

Assets

Operating lease assets Operating lease assets $ $

Finance lease assets

TOTAL LEASE ASSETS $ 662 $ 732

Liabilities

Current:

Operating lease liabilities Current operating lease liabilities $ $

Finance lease liabilities

Operating lease liabilities

Finance lease liabilities —

TOTAL LEASE LIABILITIES $ $ 799

As of December 31,

2022 2021

Weighted average remaining lease term (in years)

Operating leases

Finance leases

Weighted average discount rate

Operating leases

Finance leases

Flight Equipment Leases
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Facility Leases

local airport authority on varying terms dependent on prevailing 

on the operating costs of the airports or the frequency of use 

options and/or termination options that are factored into our 

as operating lease assets and operating lease liabilities on our 

Other Ground and Property Equipment

Lease Costs

(in millions):

2022 2021 2020

Operating lease cost $ $ $

Finance lease cost:

— —

Interest on lease liabilities —

Variable lease cost

)

TOTAL NET LEASE COST $ 679 $ 739 $ 446

Other Information

2022 2021 2020

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities

$ $ $

—
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Lease Commitments

As of December 31, 2022

Operating Leases Finance Leases

$ $

—

—

—

—

—

) —

Present value of future minimum lease payment

) )

LONG-TERM LEASE OBLIGATIONS $ 639 $ —

NOTE 5 Stockholders’ Equity

In accordance with the agreements under various federal 

NOTE 6 (Loss) Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net loss by 
the weighted average number of shares outstanding during 

and any other potentially dilutive instruments using the treasury 

equivalents excluded from the computation of diluted earnings 
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and share data in millions):

2022 2021 2020

Net loss $ (362) $ ) $ (1,354)

Weighted average basic shares 323.6 277.5

Effect of dilutive securities — — —

WEIGHTED AVERAGE DILUTED SHARES 323.6 277.5

Loss per common share

Basic $ ) $ ) $ )

Diluted $ ) $ ) $ )

NOTE 7 Share-Based Compensation
We have various equity incentive plans under which we have 2011 Incentive Compensation Plan

In accordance with the 

non-substantive and the grant has effectively vested at the time 
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Shares 
Weighted Average 

Grant Date Fair Value

$

— —

Vested )

Forfeited —

NONVESTED AT END OF YEAR 0.3 $

payment of which are based upon achievements of certain 

2020 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan

Shares 
Weighted Average 

Grant Date Fair Value

$

Vested )

Forfeited )

NONVESTED AT END OF YEAR $ 13.97

Crewmember Stock Purchase Plans

dates occur on the last business day of April and October each 
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will automatically be exercised immediately prior to the effective 

Taxation

NOTE 8 Income Taxes

2022 2021 2020

Deferred:

Federal $ ) $ ) $ )

) )

) ) )

Current:

Federal ) )

— )

Foreign ) )

) )

TOTAL INCOME TAX BENEFIT $ (75) $ ) $ (539)

2022 2021 2020

$ ) $ ) $ )

) )

— — )

— — )

Foreign rate differential )

Valuation allowance )

) )

) )

TOTAL INCOME TAX BENEFIT $ (75) $ ) $ (539)

85JETBLUE AIRWAYS CORPORATION    |    2022

|   



2022 2021

Deferred tax assets:

Deferred revenue/gains $ $

Foreign tax credit

Other Credits

Interest expense limitation carryforward —

Operating lease liabilities

—

—

Other

Valuation allowance ) )

Deferred tax liabilities:

Property and Equipment ) )

Operating lease assets ) )

Other ) )

) )

NET DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY $ (770) $ )

reversals of deferred tax liabilities) during the periods in which 

to reduce the deferred tax assets to an amount that we consider 

2022 2021 2020

$ 40 $ 32 $ 36

) ) —

— —

) ) )

UNRECOGNIZED TAX BENEFITS DECEMBER 31, $ 26 $ 40 $ 32
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a result of net operating losses and statute of limitations in our 

NOTE 9 Crewmember Retirement Plan

Another component of the Plan is a Company discretionary 

 contributions vest over three years and are measured from 

collective bargaining agreement between JetBlue and the 

non-elective contribution of eligible pilot compensation vests 

with the result reduced by  contributions and the 
equivalent of 

 

NOTE 10 Commitments

Flight Equipment Commitments

re-imposition of this or any tariff could substantially increase the 

Other Commitments

cash reserves to protect the processor from potential liability for 

do not have any collateral requirements related to our credit card 

agreement which was ratified by our inflight crewmembers 
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equivalent crewmembers were represented by labor unions 

agreements that are currently amendable or that will become 

Except for our pilots and inflight crewmembers who are 

the grievance procedure contained in the collective bargaining 

the parties agreed to enter into non-binding mediation with 
the assistance of the arbitrator with a temporary hold on a 

parties agreed to certain changes to the collective bargaining 

approved a two year contract extension which included a one 

crewmembers voted to maintain our direct relationship rather 

We enter into individual employment agreements with each of 

years and automatically renews for an additional five years 
unless either the crewmember or we elect not to renew it by 

we are obligated to pay these crewmembers a guaranteed level 

NOTE 11 Contingencies
We self-insure a portion of our losses from claims related to 

are accrued based on an estimate of the ultimate aggregate 

We are a party to many routine contracts under which we 

consist of the following:
We have various leases with respect to real property as well as 
various agreements among airlines relating to fuel consortia or 

standard language indemnifying the lessor against environmental 
liabilities associated with the real property or operations described 

have purchased a standalone environmental liability insurance 

liability policy includes some limited environmental coverage when 
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insurance protecting ourselves for the obligations we have 

We are unable to estimate the potential amount of future 

we are required to restore certain property or equipment to 

have recorded the estimated fair value of these retirement 

Legal Matters

outcome in legal or regulatory proceedings to which we are a 
party and record a loss contingency when it is probable a liability 
has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably 

of these legal and regulatory proceedings may materially differ 

more of the legal matters currently pending or threatened could 

could materially adversely affect our consolidated results of 

ruling could adversely impact our ability to achieve the intended 

incurring costs associated with implementing operational and 

damages should be awarded to a putative class of direct 

opportunities through new commercial partners as well as assess 

We plan to do this by expanding codeshare relationships and other 

these commercial partnerships allow us to better leverage our 

NOTE 12 Financial Derivative Instruments and Risk Management

purchase over the counter energy derivative instruments to 
manage our exposure to the effect of changes in the price 

derivatives of them effective at providing short-term protection 

Aircraft fuel derivatives

for under the 
which allows for gains and losses on the effective portion of 
qualifying hedges to be deferred until the underlying planned 

and losses on these instruments into earnings during each period 

change in the total fair value of the derivative instrument differs 
from the change in the value of our expected future cash outlays 

loss previously recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) is 
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Our current approach to fuel hedging is to enter into hedges 

of insurance to help mitigate the impact of price volatility and our outstanding fuel hedging contracts that were designated as 

Aircraft fuel call 
option spread 

agreements Total

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021

FUEL DERIVATIVES

Asset fair value recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets $ $ — 

 — 

—

— 

(1) Gross asset or liability of each contract prior to consideration of offsetting positions with each counterparty and prior to impact of collateral paid.

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

FUEL DERIVATIVES

$ $ — $

$ — $ — $  

income $ $ — $

Percentage of actual consumption economically hedged —

Any outstanding derivative instrument exposes us to credit loss in 
connection with our fuel contracts in the event of nonperformance 

amount of such credit exposure is generally the fair value of our 

our agreements require cash deposits from either JetBlue or our 

We have master netting arrangements with our counterparties 

Our policy is to offset the liabilities represented by these contracts 
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NOTE 13 Fair Value

about how fair value is determined for assets and liabilities and a 
hierarchy for which these assets and liabilities must be grouped 

Level 1 

Level 2 

indirectly for the asset or liability; or

Level 3 

As of December 31, 2022

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Cash equivalents $ $ — $ — $

Available-for-sale investment securities —

— —

Aircraft fuel derivatives — —

As of December 31, 2021

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Cash equivalents $ $ — $ — $

Available-for-sale investment securities — —

Equity investment securities — —

value information related to our outstanding debt obligations 

other financial instruments approximated their fair values at 

Cash equivalents

Available-for-sale investment securities
Our available-for-sale investment securities include highly liquid 

of the remaining instruments based on unobservable inputs 

income (loss) on the consolidated balance sheet for the year ended 

Equity investment securities
Our investments in equity securities include investments in 

on our consolidated statement of operations for the year ending 

JBV has equity investments in emerging companies which do 
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account for these investments using a measurement alternative 
Aircraft fuel derivatives 
Our aircraft fuel derivatives include call spread options which are 

data inputs are combined into qualitative models and processes 

NOTE 14 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Aircraft Fuel 
Derivatives(1)

Available-for-
sale securities Total

Balance of accumulated income, at December 31, 2019 $ 2 $ — $ 2

—

) — )

Balance of accumulated income, at December 31, 2020 $ — $ — $ —

— — —

— — —

Balance of accumulated income, at December 31, 2021 $ — $ — $ —

—

) ) )

BALANCE OF ACCUMULATED INCOME (LOSS), AT DECEMBER 31, 2022 $ 1 $ (1) $ — 
(1) Reclassified to aircraft fuel expense.

NOTE 15 Geographic Information

are required for operating segments that are regularly reviewed 

Domestic & Canada $ $ $

Atlantic —

TOTAL $ $ $
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NOTE 16 Special Items

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Special Items

Federal payroll support grant recognition $ — $ ) $ )

— ) )

—

—

— —

— —

— —

— —

TOTAL $ 113 $ ) $ )
(1) As discussed in Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements, we received assistance in the form of grants and unsecured loans under various federal payroll support 

programs. Funds under these federal payroll support programs were to be used exclusively for the continuation of payment of crewmember wages, salaries, and benefits. 
The carrying values of the payroll support grants (after consideration of the warrants we issued) were recorded within other liabilities and were recognized as contra-
expenses within special items on our consolidated statements of operations as the funds were utilized. We utilized $830 million and $685 million of payroll support grants 
for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Our payroll support grants were fully utilized as of December 31, 2022.

(2) The Employee Retention Credit (“ERC”) under the CARES Act is a refundable tax credit which encourages businesses to keep employees on the payroll during the COVID-19 
pandemic. Eligible employers can qualify for up to $5,000 of credit for each employee based on qualified wages paid after March 12, 2020 and before January 1, 2021. 
The Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) subsequently issued Notice 2021-23 and Notice 2021-49 which collectively extended the ERC eligibility to cover qualified wages paid 
after December 31, 2020 and before January 1, 2022. Qualified wages are the wages paid to an employee for the time that the employee is not providing services due to an 
economic hardship, specifically, either (1) a full or partial suspension of operations by order of a governmental authority due to COVID-19, or (2) a significant decline in gross 
receipts. Our policy is to recognize the ERC when it is filed with the IRS. We recognized $11 million and $36 million of ERC as contra-expenses within special items on our 
consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

(3) In April 2018, JetBlue inflight crewmembers elected to be represented by the Transport Workers Union of America, or TWU. The National Mediation Board, or NMB, 
certified the TWU as the representative for JetBlue inflight crewmembers. The parties reached a final agreement for the first collective bargaining agreement which 
was ratified by our inflight crewmembers in December 2021. The agreement is a five-year, renewable contract effective December 13, 2021. During the fourth quarter of 
2021, we recorded a one-time ratification bonus totaling $8 million to be allocated amongst our inflight crewmembers as determined by TWU. During the full year 2022, we 
recorded $1 million in implementation costs relating to the contract.

(4) Under ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, we are required to assess long-lived assets for impairment when events and circumstances indicate that the assets may 
be impaired. An impairment of long-lived assets exists when the sum of the forecasted undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated directly by the assets 
are less than the book value of the assets. Our long-lived assets include both owned and leased properties which are classified as property and equipment, and operating 
lease assets on our consolidated balance sheets, respectively.

 Our operations were adversely impacted by the unprecedented decline in demand for travel caused by the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. To determine if impairment exists 
in our fleet, we grouped our aircraft by fleet-type and estimated their future cash flows based on projections of capacity, aircraft age, maintenance requirements, and 
other relevant conditions. Based on the assessment, we determined the future cash flows from the operation of our Embraer E190 fleet were lower than the carrying value. 
For those aircraft, including the ones that are under operating lease, and related spare parts in our Embraer E190 fleet, we recorded impairment losses of $273 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2020. These losses represent the difference between the book value of these assets and their fair value. In determining fair value, we 
obtained third party valuations for our Embraer E190 fleet, which considered the effects of the current market environment, age of the assets, and marketability. For our 
owned Embraer E190 aircraft and related spare parts, we made adjustments to the valuations to reflect the impact of their current maintenance conditions to determine 
fair value. Our estimate of fair value was not based on distressed sales or forced liquidations. The fair value of our Embraer E190 aircraft under operating lease and related 
parts was based on the present value of current market lease rates utilizing a market discount rate for the remaining term of each lease. Since the fair value of our 
Embraer E190 fleet was determined using unobservable inputs, it is classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. 

 No fleet impairment loss was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2021.
 In 2022, as a result of our Embraer E190 fleet transition, we entered into a series of engine exchanges of the CF34 engines used on our Embraer E190 fleet. Additionally, 

we entered into an agreement to sell 5 of our owned Embraer E190 aircraft in 2023. We classified these 5 aircraft as held for sale in December 31, 2022. As a result of these 
fleet transition transactions, we recognized a $52 million impairment loss on the Embraer E190 fleet during the year ended December 31, 2022. These losses represent 
the difference between the book value of these assets and their fair value.  In determining fair value, we obtained third party valuations for our Embraer E190 fleet, which 
considered the effects of the current market environment, age of the assets, and marketability. For our owned Embraer E190 aircraft and related spare parts, we made 
adjustments to the valuations to reflect the impact of their current maintenance conditions to determine fair value. Our estimate of fair value was not based on distressed 
sales or forced liquidations. The fair value of our Embraer E190 aircraft under operating lease and related parts was based on the present value of current market lease 
rates utilizing a market discount rate for the remaining term of each lease. Since the fair value of our Embraer E190 fleet was determined using unobservable inputs, it is 
classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
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(5) In 2020, the unprecedented declines in demand and in our capacity caused by COVID-19 led to a significant reduction to our staffing needs. In June 2020, we announced a 
voluntary separation program which allowed eligible crewmembers the opportunity to voluntarily separate from the Company in exchange for severance, health coverage for a 
specified period of time, and travel privileges based on years of service. Virtually all of our crewmembers were eligible to participate in the voluntary separation program with the 
exception of our union-represented crewmembers and crewmembers of our wholly-owned subsidiaries (JetBlue Ventures and JetBlue Travel Products). Separation agreements 
for the majority of the crewmembers who elected to participate in the voluntary program were executed in the third quarter of 2020. One-time costs of $59 million, consisting of 
severance and health benefits, were recorded for the year ended December 31, 2020 in connection with the program. Approximately $44 million of this charge was disbursed in 
2020. Substantially all of the remaining balance had been disbursed as of December 31, 2021 with the residual amount disbursed by mid-2022. 

(6) As discussed in Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements, we paid $32 million for an ALPA ratification bonus and the associated payroll taxes during the second 
quarter of 2022.

(7) As discussed in Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements, we incurred and paid $28 million for various expenses related to our acquisition of Spirit during the year 
ended December 31, 2022.

(8) In 2020, we executed $563 million of aircraft sale-leaseback transactions. Of these transactions, $354 million did not qualify as sales for accounting purposes. The remaining 
$209 million qualified as sales and generated a loss of $106 million. These losses represent the difference between the book value of these assets and their fair value. We 
estimated the fair value of the related aircraft considering third party valuations and considered specific circumstances such as aircraft age, maintenance requirements and 
condition, and therefore classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

NOTE 17 Entry into Merger Agreement with Spirit Airlines

a Delaware corporation and a direct wholly owned subsidiary of 

On or prior to the last business day of each calendar month 

customary timing agreement with any governmental entity not 

antitrust laws; (d) the absence of any law or order prohibiting 
the consummation of the transactions; and (e) the absence of 

necessary approval of a governmental entity (including under 

proceeding brought by a governmental entity challenging or 

if such action would or would reasonably be expected to result in a 
material adverse effect on JetBlue and its subsidiaries (including 

no event shall JetBlue be required to agree to any such divestiture 
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also provides the methodology by which certain expenses of 

to pay JetBlue an amount equal to the sum of all amounts paid 

having not occurred by the Outside Date solely to the extent that 
the closing condition requiring (i) the waiting period applicable 

customary timing agreement with any governmental entity to 

entered into in connection therewith) to have expired or been 
terminated or (ii) that no governmental entity has issued an order 

ITEM 9  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON 
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 

that are designed to ensure that information required to be 

under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated 

of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures 

CFO concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were 
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining 

and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for 

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 9C  DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT 
PREVENT INSPECTIONS

96 JETBLUE AIRWAYS CORPORATION    |   2022

   |   



PART III

ITEM 10  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

Code of Ethics
We adopted a Code of Ethics within the meaning of Item 406(b) of 
SEC Regulation S-K. This Code of Ethics applies to our principal 
executive officer, principal financial officer, and principal 

our website at http://investor.jetblue.com. If we make substantive 

or waiver on our website or in a report on Form 8-K within four 

Robin Hayes, age 56, is our Chief Executive Officer. He was 

before that he served in a number of operational and commercial 

Joanna Geraghty, age 50, is our President and Chief Operating 

President Customer Experience from 2014 to 2018. She served as 

Ursula Hurley, age 41, is our Chief Financial Officer. She was 

Treasurer, responsible for debt and cash management, cash 

Brandon Nelson, age 48, is our General Counsel and Corporate 

Carol Clements,

Hut where she oversaw its e-commerce channels, restaurant 

leadership roles.

Al Spencer,

Dave Clark, age 46, is our Head of Revenue and Planning. He 

Alexander Chatkewitz,
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Scott Laurence, age 49, was our Head of Revenue and Planning. He 

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

ITEM 12  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS 
AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

ITEM 13  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, 
AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

ITEM 14  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

1. Financial statements:

Consolidated Balance Sheets — December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021

2. Financial Statement Schedules:

3.

ITEM 16 FORM 10-K SUMMARY
Omitted.

99JETBLUE AIRWAYS CORPORATION    |    2022



Signatures

JETBLUE AIRWAYS CORPORATION 
(Registrant) 

whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Brandon 

in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange 

on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates 
indicated.

Signature Capacity Date

Director

Director
Peter Boneparth

Director

Director
Ellen Jewett
/S/ ROBERT LEDUC Director
Robert Leduc

Director

Director

Director

Director

/s/ Thomas Winkelmann Director
Thomas Winkelmann
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Exhibit Index

2.1

3.1

3.1(a)

3.2

3.3

4.1

4.3

4.3(a)

4.3(b)

4.3(c)

4.3(d)

4.3(e)

4.3(f)

4.3(g)

4.3(h)

4.3(i)
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Exhibit Index

4.3(l)

4.3(m)

4.3(n)

4.3(o)

4.3(w)
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Exhibit Index

4.3(aa)

4.3(af)

4.4

4.5

4.5(a)

4.14

31, 2020.

4.14(a)

4.15

ended September 30, 2020.

4.15(a)
September 30, 2020.
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Exhibit Index

4.16

31, 2020.

4.16(a)

2021.

4.18
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Exhibit Index
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Exhibit Index

December 31, 2014.

ended December 31, 2014.

ended December 31, 2015.

10.3(ag)

10.4

10.15
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Exhibit Index
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Exhibit Index

10.20

10.20(a)

June 30, 2015.

30, 2015.
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Exhibit Index

June 30, 2015.

December 31, 2013.

2014.

ended September 30, 2016.

quarter ended September 30, 2016.

ended September 30, 2016.

September 30, 2018.

December 31, 2018.

June 30, 2019.

June 30, 2019.

109JETBLUE AIRWAYS CORPORATION    |    2022



Exhibit Index

June 30, 2020.

December 31, 2020.

10.45
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Exhibit Index

10.46

2020.

10.5

2020.

September 30, 2020.

10.54

10.55

10.56

ended June 30, 2021.

ended June 30, 2021.

21.1+ List of Subsidiaries.

23+
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Exhibit Index

31.1+

31.2+

32++

101.SCH

101.DEF

101.PRE

104

††

†††

††††
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

JETBLUE AIRWAYS CORPORATION 
SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at
beginning of

period

Additions Charged  
to Costs and 

Expenses Deductions
Balance at end  

of period

Year Ended December 31, 2022

$ $ 30 $ 13 $ 90

24 5 — 29

3 16 15(1) 4

TOTAL $ 100 $ 51 $ 28 $ 123

Year Ended December 31, 2021

$ 69 $ 19 $ 15 $

4 24

2 14 13(1) 3

TOTAL $ 98 $ 37 $ 35 $ 100

Year Ended December 31, 2020

$ 31 $ 38 $ — $ 69

22 5 —

1 6 5(1) 2

TOTAL $ 54 $ 49 $ 5 $ 98
(1) Uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoveries.
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